045

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 21 1997

GEORGE TAPLIS,

Petitioner/Appellant,

S Ct. Case No :

CLERK, SUPREME COUP

VS.

5th DCA Case No.: 96-02467

STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE **FIFTH** DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

MICHAEL W. WOODWARD Florida Bar Number: 0058531 Attorney for Petitioner/Appellant KEYSER & WOODWARD, P.A. Post Office Box 92

Interlachen, Florida 32148 (904) 684-4673 fax: 684-4674

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The instant petitioner/appellant, George Taplis, was a defendant before the circuit court and was the respondent in the Fifth District Court of Appeal case *sub judice*. Those facts relevant to this Court's jurisdiction that were set forth in the district court opinion below are as follows':

George Taplis had been driving his wife's vehicle when it was reported that the vehicle was on fire. When the Putnam County officials responded to the scene, the vehicle was almost completely destroyed by fire. A member of the Fire **Service** pried open the trunk to extinguish the fire. When the owner had failed to have the car removed from the street within three days, the County had the vehicle towed to the Palatka Auto Body lot. After paying the insurance claim and after obtaining the consent of the owner (Taplis' wife), the insurance company had the vehicle towed to a secure lot in Orlando. Fire investigators from Tampa were then employed to examine the vehicle in order to determine the cause of the fire. Photographs were taken and samples of fire debris were taken from inside the passenger compartment. These samples were sent to a private lab for analysis. As a result of these tests, Taplis was charged with burning to defraud an insurer,

Taplis moved to prevent the introduction of the evidence taken from the examination of the vehicle on the basis that the vehicle had not been properly preserved and therefore the results of the examination "may well be" the product of contamination or tampering, further, that by failing to properly preserve the vehicle, **exculpatory** evidence important to the defense may have been lost. The trial court, after taking testimony, granted the motion, stating:

Based on these findings, this Court concludes that there was an insufficient (if any) chain of custody to preserve the condition and integrity of the swatch and belt for evidentiary purposes. The risk of contamination/tampering (intentional or unintentional) renders the admission an intolerable risk of prejudice.

1

<sup>&#</sup>x27;That the opinion of the District Court conspicuously omitted other important relevant facts was argued in the Petitioner/Appellant's rehearing motion. (Appendix II)

It is evident from the above, and from other statements in the record, that the trial court was of the opinion that the mere possibility of contamination or tampering was sufficient to bar the introduction of the evidence. This belief may have been based on dictum in Dodd v, State, 537 So. 2d 626, 627-628 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), in which the court stated: "Notwithstanding the testimony on redirect, a mere reasonable possibility of tampering is sufficient to require proof of the chain of custody." We believe that this statement is dictum because under the facts of Dodd, there was a probability of either mistake or tampering. In Dodd, the issue was the quantity of cocaine. A container and its contents weighing a combined 317.5 grams went to the lab where a contraband scale registered a combined weight of only 249.5 grams. The Dodd court observed that the "gross discrepancies" in the weight indicated "probable tampering," Id. at 628. We do not have that situation before us.

It is true that the vehicle was left unattended at the scene of the fire for three days. It was then towed to a secure lot and later towed to another secure lot. It is also true, even in these secure lots, that the public had access to the vehicle at least during business hours. But there is no indication in the record that tampering "probably" happened. The Fire Service officer who assisted in putting out the fire, two deputy sheriffs, employees of the secure lots, and the fire investigator all testified at the hearing on the motion and their testimony suggests that no material changes occurred to the vehicle prior to obtaining the samples.

Taplis urges that the fact that water was sprayed on the vehicle, that the vehicle had been twice towed along the highway, and that the interior had been exposed to the weather for some time are themselves sufficient to create a probability of contamination. Under the facts of this case, we think not. The fire investigator testified that the heat of the ignited gasoline in the passenger compartment caused the top of the carpet to melt which sealed unburned gasoline in the padding underneath. It is difficult to conceive how the movement of the vehicle or the vehicle's exposure to the elements could affect the analysis of the padding. And even if gasoline were somehow brought into the passenger compartment by the water used to extinguish the fire, how it got under the sealed carpet is unexplained.

21 Fla. L. Weekly at D2451 (Fla. 5th DCA November 15, 1996). (Appendix I)

The district court therefore granted the State's petition for writ of certiorari, quashing the order of the circuit court, which had granted the defendant's limine motion to exclude the gasoline evidence. The district court wrote that "evidence should not be ruled inadmissible merely because there is a possibility that tampering might have occurred," Id.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal then denied the instant petitioner/appellant's rehearing motion (Appendix II) without comment on December 12, 1996. (Appendix III) Notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction of this Court was filed on January 10, 1997.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fifth District court of Appeal in the case sub **judice** is in express and direct conflict with the holding of this Court in *Peek v. State, 395* So.2d 492 (Fla. 1980), which permits, but does not require, trial courts to admit relevant physical evidence where there is no probability, or no hint, of tampering; with the holding of the Third District Court of Appeal in Dodd *v. State, 537* So.2d 626 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), which holds that it is error to admit such evidence where there is a reasonable possibility that tampering has occurred and where the chain of custody is incompletely proven; and with the holding of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Beck v. State, 405* So.2d 1365 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), which holds that a trial court abuses its discretion and commits error in excluding such evidence only where there is no showing whatsoever of any likelihood of tampering. This conflict tends to create inconsistency and confusion as to the proper limits of judicial discretion to be exercised by the trial courts in such matters.

#### ARGUMENT

Article V, § 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure provide that this Court may exercise its jurisdiction to review any decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with any decision of another district court of appeal, or of the Supreme Court, in respect to the same question of law. That such an direct and express conflict exists in the instant case is apparent on the face of the opinion below, rendered by the Fifth District Court of Appeals, which itself cites one such conflicting district court case.

To be sure, the relevant opinions of the several district courts issued since 1980 are all in agreement that issues regarding the determinations of trial judges to admit or exclude physical evidence that may have been subjected to tampering or contamination are controlled by the rule of law set forth in *Peek v. State*, *395* So.2d 492 (Fla. 1980): "Relevant physical evidence is admissible unless there is an indication of probable tampering." *Id.* at 495. The *Peek* court held that the trial judge had not abused his discretion by permitting the introduction of evidence based on hair samples, because "[t]he record here reflects no hint of tampering." Id.

Conflict has arisen, however, as the respective district courts have gone about the process of applying, interpreting, and extending the **Peek** rule to different factual situations and even to cases where, as in the instant case, the trial court has exercised its discretion to exclude rather than to admit the questionable evidence. Troubling questions arise. Just how "probable" does the "probable" tampering have to be before the trial judge **must** exclude the evidence? Conversely, how improbable does the

occurrence of tampering have to be in order for the trial judge to be **prohibited** from excluding the evidence? Is an "indication" of tampering too little? Is a "hint" of tampering too much? The opinions of the several district courts following **Peek** have shown a marked divergence in the permissible range of discretion afforded trial judges when the **Peek** rule is applied,

In the instant case, the Fifth District Court held that the trial judge abused his discretion by excluding evidence where the trial judge, after hearing lengthy testimony regarding the absence of any chain of custody as well as the sundry agents, forces, and conditions to which the evidence had been exposed or subjected over a period of several weeks, found that "[t]he risk of contamination/tampering (intentional or unintentional) renders the admission an intolerable risk of prejudice." 21 Fla. L. Weekly at D2451. The district court opined that in so ruling the trial judge may have been misled by the language of *Dodd v. State, 537* So.2d *626* (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). The *Dodd* court, which held that the trial court had committed error by admitting the disputed evidence, wrote that "a mere reasonable possibility of tampering is sufficient to require proof of the chain of custody." *Id.* at 628.

A finding of such a reasonable possibility of tampering, held the Fifth District in the instant case, is **not** sufficient. Not only is it insufficient to **require** the trial court to establish an adequate chain of custody or exclude the evidence; it is insufficient even to **allow** the trial court to do so, Whereas the Third District, which in **Dodd** expressly cites and follows **Peek**, defines Peek's "indication of probable tampering" standard as being equivalent to a "reasonable possibility of tampering," the Fifth District dismisses the

**Dodd** language as "dictum," 21 Fla. L. Weekly at D2451, and holds that something more is needed to constitute the requisite level of probability. (The district court opinion does not indicate any minimum quantum of probability that would have sufficed, given the type of evidence and facts in the instant case, to allow the trial judge to exclude the evidence without abusing his discretion.

Other district courts have also undertaken further to define, refine, or apply the *Peek* standard, sometimes resulting in opinions setting forth the applied standard in language that appears to conflict with the result reached by the Fifth District in the instant case. *Beck v. State*, 405 So.2d 1365 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) is an example. In *Beck*, the Fourth District held that the trial court had abused its discretion and committed error in excluding evidence (blood-stained blue jeans), because "the record *completely* fails to support *any* likelihood of tampering with the evidence." *Id.* at 1367. [Emphasis added.] This suggests that had the record provided *any* support for even *some* likelihood of tampering, the decision of the trial court to exclude the questionable evidence might well have fallen within the trial court's proper range of discretion. In contrast, the instant case does contain facts supporting at least some likelihood (possibility) of tampering, but not, the Fifth District Court held, likelihood (probability) enough.

The **Beck** court's opinion provides additional insight into its holding regarding the proper understanding and application of the **Peek rule**.

The issue, however, is the condition of the blue jeans on the night of the stabbing; and a chain of custody is, without question, relevant. Deeb v. State, 131 Fla. 362, 179 So. 894 (1938). A body of law had developed on the subject when the physical evidence has been offered by the prosecution. Since **Stunson** v. State, 228 **So.2d** 294 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969) cert. denied 237 **So.2d** 179 (**Fla.1970**), Florida courts have recognized the principles initially

set forth in United States v. S. B. Penick & Co., 136 F.2d 413 (2d Cir. 943) and later recited in Gallego v. United States, 276 F.2d 914, 917 (9th Cir. 1960):

Before a physical object connected with the commission of a crime may properly be admitted in evidence there must be a showing that such object is in substantially the same condition as when the crime was committed. This determination is to be made by the trial judge. Factors to be considered in making this determination include the nature of the article, the circumstances surrounding the preservation and custody of it, and the likelihood of intermeddlers tampering with it.

. . . (Citations omitted.)

From what can be seen from the foregoing, custody is one factor the trial court must consider in satisfying itself that the physical evidence has not been changed in important aspects.

#### **Beck. 405** So.2d at 1367.

The *Beck* court then went on to cite *Peek*, explaining that in *Peek* "the court affirmed the admission of contraband *because there was no hint of tampering." Beck* at 1367. [Emphasis added.] Again, the Fourth District's iteration of the law of the *Peek* case conflicts with the position taken by the Fifth District Court in the instant case. While the facts of the instant case show more than a "hint" that tampering may have occurred, the Fifth District holds there was not a sufficient probability to permit the trial judge to exclude the evidence.

At present, therefore, a conflict among the district courts exists as to the degree of probability of tampering that must in practice be shown in order to require that the trial court exclude the evidence--or, as in the case *sub judice*, the degree of probability of tampering that must be shown in order to permit the trial court to exclude the evidence.

Put another way, a conflict exists regarding the parameters of trial courts' discretion in such matters.

In the Third District, under **Dodd**, the trial court *must* exclude evidence where even a "reasonable possibility of tampering" is shown and a complete chain of custody is not established. 537 **So.2d** at 628.

In the Fourth District, under **Beck**, the trial **court cannot** exclude evidence--if, that is, "the record completely fails to support any likelihood of tampering with the evidence." **405** So.2d at 1367.

And in the Fifth District, under that court's opinion in the instant case, the trial court cannot exclude evidence unless "a likelihood of tampering (probability)," 21 Fla. L. Weekly at D2451, is shown. The facts of the instant case, however, suggest that what the Fifth District in effect means by "likelihood" or "probability" requires a quantum of proof that moves the Fifth District's definition of those terms significantly closer to "certainty" than what was intended, stated, and given application in the Third and Fourth Districts' respective decisions.

Arguably, therefore, a conflict also exists between the opinion *sub judice* and that of this Court in *Peek* itself, which held that the trial court *need not* exclude evidence where there was "no hint of tampering." 395 So.2d 495. *Peek* did not hold that the trial *could not* have excluded that evidence. The *Peek* opinion thus expressly upheld the discretion of trial courts in such matters; it did not, as in the instant case, expressly impose restrictions on that discretion.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth above, the Petitioner/Appellant, George Taplis, respectfully requests this Honorable Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and grant review of the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in this cause.