IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FEB 10 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

GEORGE TAPLIS,

Petitioner,

v.

3

6

£.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CASE NO . \$9,721

5TH DCA Nd: 96-2467

"ANN M. CHILDS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #978698 444 Seabreeze Boulevard 5th Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should decline to accept jurisdiction in the instant case. Petitioner's appropriate remedy is to raise this issue, if he is eventually convicted, on direct appeal. Additionally, on the face of the decision under review, there is no express and direct conflict with any decision of this Court or any other district court of appeal. This court is limited to the facts contained within the four corners of the decision in determining whether an express and direct conflict exists.

ARGUMENT

PETITIONER HAS A REMEDY ON DIRECT APPEAL. ON THE FACE OF THE DECISION IN <u>STATE V. TAPLIS</u>, INFRA, THERE IS NO EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT AND THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO ACCEPT JURISDICTION.

This Court lacks jurisdiction to entertain the instant appeal. The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in State v. Taplis, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D2450 (Fla. 5th DCA November 15, 1996), is a decision which grants the state's petition for certiorari and quashes the non-final order of the trial court barring the admission of certain evidence at trial. This Court has held that certiorari review of a trial court's non-final order may not ordinarily be had because the party has available to it an eventual plenary appeal of the final judgment. Fieselman v. St-ate, 566 So. 2d 768, 770 (Fla. 1990).

In the instant case, Petitioner can challenge his conviction, and the issue of the degree of level of probable tampering needed to exclude the admission of evidence, on direct appeal of the final judgment. Moreover, this appeal would become moot if Petitioner is acquitted at trial. <u>Martin-Johnson v. Savage</u>, 509 So. 2d 1097, 1100 (Fla. 1987).

Petitioner, however, seeks discretionary review with this

3

honorable Court under Article V, Section 3(b) (3) of the Florida Constitution. <u>See also</u> Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). Article V, Section 3(b)(3) provides that the Florida Supreme Court may review a district court of appeal decision only if it "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the **same** question of law." In <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986) this Court explained:

> Conflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision. Neither a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdiction.

In the same opinion this Court further stated:

This case illustrates a common error made in preparing jurisdictional briefs based on alleged decisional conflict. The only facts relevant to our decision to accept or reject such petitions are those facts contained within the four corners of the decisions allegedly in conflict. As we explained in the text above, we are not permitted to base our conflict jurisdiction on a review of the record or on facts recited only in dissenting opinions. Thus, it is pointless and misleading to include a comprehensive recitation of facts not appearing in the decision below, with citations to the record, as

petitioner provided here. Similarly, voluminous appendices are normally not relevant.

<u>Reaves</u>, 485 So. 2d at 830, n.3. Finally, this Court has held that inherent or so-called "implied" conflict may not serve as a basis for this Court's jurisdiction. <u>DHRS v. National Adoption</u> <u>Counselins Service, Inc.</u>, 498 So. 2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986).

Petitioner asserts that the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case conflicts with several cases. It is the Respondent's position that each of the cases cited by Petitioner utilizes the same legal standard. This is the **same** standard that was used by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in deciding this case below; namely, that relevant physical evidence can be admitted unless there is some indication of probable tampering. <u>Peek v. State</u>, 395 so. 2d 492, 495 (Fla. 1980); <u>Dodd v.</u> <u>State</u>, 537 So. 2d 626, 627 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); <u>Beck v. State</u>, 405 so. 2d 1365, 1367 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

Petitioner may not go behind the reasoning of the courts and cite what he believes the cases "suggest" in order to establish conflict. (Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief p. 6, 8). Although each of the cases is factually distinct, all of the decisions, including the Fifth District's, use the same legal standard. This does not constitute a conflict.

5

Based on the decision in <u>Taplis</u>, <u>supra</u>, there is no express and direct conflict with the cases relied upon by petitioner. There is nothing on the face of the Fifth District's decision to demonstrate a conflict with any other decision. This Court therefore lacks jurisdiction to review this case.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, respondent respectfully requests this honorable Court decline to accept jurisdiction in this case.